

Distr.: General 17 December 2004

Original: English

Fifty-ninth session Agenda item 126 Financing of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus

## Performance report on the budget of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004

**Report of the Secretary-General** 

## Contents

		Paragraphs	Page
I.	Introduction	. 1–3	3
II.	Mandate performance	. 4–7	3
III.	Resource performance		10
	A. Financial resources		10
	B. Other income and adjustments		11
	C. Expenditure for contingent-owned equipment: major equipment and self-su	stainment	11
	D. Value of non-budgeted contributions		11
IV.	Analysis of variances	. 8–21	12
V.	Actions to be taken by the General Assembly	. 22	15

#### Summary

The present report contains the performance report on the budget of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus (UNFICYP) for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004.

The total expenditure for UNFICYP for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 has been linked to the mission's objective through a number of results-based frameworks, grouped by components, namely, substantive civilian, military, civilian police and support.

#### **Performance of financial resources**

(Thousands of United States dollars. Budget year is from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004.)

			Varia	nce
Category	Apportionment	Expenditure	Amount	Percentage
Military and police personnel	23 008.9	22 980.3	28.6	0.1
Civilian personnel	9 644.9	11 410.4	(1 765.5)	(18.3)
Operational costs	11 145.0	11 073.5	71.5	0.6
Gross requirements	43 798.8	45 464.2	(1 665.4)	(3.8)
Staff assessment income	1 702.3	1 865.3	(163.0)	(9.6)
Net requirements	42 096.5	43 598.9	(1 502.4)	(3.6)
Voluntary contributions in kind (budgeted)	1 318.3	1 707.1	(388.8)	(29.5)
Total requirements	45 117.1	47 171.3	(2 054.2)	(4.6)

#### Human resources incumbency performance

Category	Approved <sup>a,b</sup>	Actual (average)	Vacancy rate (percentage)
Military contingents	1 230	1 224	0.5
Civilian police	35	42	(20.0)
International staff	45	40	11.1
National staff	105	101	3.8

<sup>a</sup> Represents the highest level of authorized strength.

<sup>b</sup> Excludes additional 34 civilian police officers authorized by the Security Council in its resolution 1486 (2003) of 11 June 2003.

The actions to be taken by the General Assembly are set out in section V of the present report.

#### I. Introduction

1. The budget for the maintenance of the United Nations Peacekeeping Force in Cyprus (UNFICYP) for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 was set out in the report of the Secretary-General dated 5 February 2003 (A/57/687 and Corr.1) and amounted to \$44,368,400 gross (\$42,595,700 net) exclusive of voluntary contributions in kind of \$1,318,300. It provided for 1,230 military contingents, 35 civilian police, 47 international and 108 national staff.

2. On the basis of the recommendation of the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions contained in paragraph 30 of its report dated 3 April 2003 (A/57/772/Add.4 and Corr.1), the General Assembly, by its resolution 57/332 of 18 June 2003, appropriated an amount of \$43,798,800 gross (\$42,096,500 net) for the maintenance of the Force for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004. The appropriated amount included voluntary contributions from the Government of Cyprus in the amount of \$14,567,500 equivalent to one third of the net cost of UNFICYP and \$6.5 million from the Government of Greece. An amount of \$22,731,300 gross (\$21,029,000 net) was assessed on Member States for that period.

3. Expenditures for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 total \$45,464,200 gross (\$43,598,900 net) and exceed the appropriation of \$43,978,800 gross (\$42,096,500 net) by \$1,665,400 gross (\$1,502,400 net) owing to the increase of the UNFICYP civilian police strength authorized by the Security Council in its resolution 1486 (2003) of 11 June 2003 and the subsequent deployment of 12 additional police officers during the reporting period, the appreciation of the Cyprus pound and increases in the post adjustment multiplier factor for international staff. In March 2004, the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions was informed that projected overexpenditure of approximately \$1.6 million for the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004 would be reported in the budget performance report for the period.

#### **II.** Mandate performance

4. The mandate of UNFICYP was established by the Security Council in its resolution 186 (1964) of 4 March 1964. The mandate for the performance period was provided by the Council in its resolutions 1486 (2003) and 1517 (2003) of 24 November 2003.

5. UNFICYP is mandated to help the Security Council achieve an overall objective, namely, to ensure peace and security in Cyprus and the return to normal conditions.

6. Within this overall objective, UNFICYP has, during the performance report period, contributed to a number of accomplishments by delivering related key outputs, shown in the frameworks below. These frameworks are grouped by substantive civilian, military, civilian police and support components.

7. The 2003/04 period is the first period for which the mission was able to assess its performance against the planned results-based frameworks set out in the 2003/04 budget. The performance report compares the actual indicators of achievement, the extent to which actual progress has been made during the period against the expected accomplishments, with the planned indicators of achievement, and compares the actually completed outputs with the planned outputs

#### **Component 1: substantive civilian**

Expected accomplishment 1.1: Improved relations between Greek Cypriot and Turkish Cypriot communities

Planned indicators of achievement	Actual indicators of achievement			
Increase in bicommunal contacts	260 compared to 95 in 2002/03. Though the number of participants was roughly the same, meetings in smaller groups led to a qualitative enhancement in forging understanding of each other's position			
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks		
Maintained close relations with the two sides in order to resolve problems and find solutions	112	Contacts at the working level for an early resolution of disputes such as arrests and pre-trial detentions; monitoring and expediting trials and visits of families to detainees		
Implemented confidence-building initiatives between the Cypriot communities	2	Informal meetings between the sides in Pyla		
Organized United Nations Day celebrations	Yes	Ceremonies and activities in observance of United Nations Day attracted 3,000 people from both sides		
Organized regular bicommunal meetings of interested professional and social groups	260			
Maintained close contacts with the guarantor parties and other interested Member States	240	Contacts through the diplomatic channel and at the working level		
Regular media briefings	300			

Planned indicators of achievement	Actual indicators of achievement			
Successful completion of economic projects in the buffer zone	4 projects completed (3 dairy farms expanded and 1 horse stable constructed)			
Decrease in the number of mines and unexploded ordnance in the buffer zone	Not achieved owing to a delay in the receipt of external funding Reduction of 20% from 24 in 2002/03 to 20 in 2003/04			
Reduction in the number of grievances in the village of Pyla				
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks		
Facilitated implementation of economic projects that benefit both the Greek Cypriot and Turkish Cypriot communities	12	Projects, including provision of water from the south to the north, clearance and maintenance of the Marathassa dam, permission for the installation of a water pump in Kormakiti and upgrading and maintenance of farm roads		
Implemented restoration projects in the village of Pyla with the cooperation of both communities	No	Agreement on the implementation of the historic Venetian castle project achieved and external funding identified		
Assisted in resolving economic and legal issues between the two sides	12	Farming and agricultural issues mediated and resolved		
Assisted in clearance of mines and unexploded ordnance from agricultural land	No	Preparatory work carried out, contractors and potential funding have been identified		

#### Expected accomplishment 1.2: Progress towards normalization of the buffer zone in Cyprus

**Expected accomplishment 1.3**: Improved living conditions for Greek Cypriots and Maronites in the north and Turkish Cypriots in the south

Planned indicators of achievement	Actual indicators of achievement Informal positive feedback received from relatives or community leaders and official representatives			
Informal positive feedback from communities indicating that living conditions have improved				
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks		
Humanitarian visits to Greek Cypriots in the Karpas peninsula and to Maronites in the north	118			
Regular meetings with Turkish Cypriots in the south	62	Meetings primarily on resolving housing, humanitarian and educational issues		
Family reunions facilitated	Yes	Opening of the crossing points has made it easier for families to meet. UNFICYP assistance provided in 4 complicated cases only		
Medical assistance facilitated	89	Medical evacuations		

### **Component 2: military**

Expected accomplishment 2.1: Ensure ceasefire in Cyprus is maintained				
Planned indicators of achievement Actual indicators of achievement				
Zero serious violations	No serious violations of the buffer zone			
Reduction in the number of small-scale violations	11% reduction from 1,153 in 2002/03 to 1,025 in 2003/04			
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks		
Patrolled and monitored the buffer zone:				
- 44 observation patrol bases manned daily	44			
– 17,250 ground patrols	17 640			
– 800 air patrols	864			
Liaison with opposing forces at all levels	Yes	Including regular meetings at the Force Commander and Chief of Staff level and frequent meetings at the sector level with representatives of both opposing forces		
Interventions to prevent or rectify violations	Yes	The settlement talks and referendum limited the number of interventions required compared to 2002/03		

485

5% decrease from 510 in 2002/03 to 485 in 2003/04 owing to improved security situation

## **Component 3: civilian police**

Expected accomplishment 3.1: Maintain la	w and order with	in the buffer zone in Cyprus		
Planned indicators of achievement	Actual indicators of achievement			
Reduction in serious crimes in the buffer zone	<ul> <li>9 cases of theft in 2003/04 compared to 4 cases in 2002/03</li> <li>108 hunting reports in 2003/04 compared to 79 in 2002/03 (hunting in the buffer zone is considered a serious offence owing to the delicate situation, minefields and proximity of the opposing forces)</li> </ul>			
	Increases attrib	utable to increased crossings of the buffer zone		
No illegal access or violent demonstrations	ations 117 reports of incursions into buffer zone (104 local po and 13 non-local population) in 2003/04 compared to 9 2002/03. Increases attributable to increased crossings o zone			
		crossing incidents (13 involving illegal immigrants) npared to 18 in 2002/03		
	No violent dem	constrations in 2003/04 (same as in 2002/03)		
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks		
2,400 track patrols	2 651	Higher number owing to the increase in civilian police strength		
Investigations	14	Including complaints by civilians, damage to property in the buffer zone and assault cases		
Reports on violations of Maritime Security Line (MSL)	54	Fishermen and pleasure boats crossing MSL		
Reports on unauthorized buffer zone construction	17	Houses, sheds, stables and other buildings		
Village meetings and community liaison	76			
Reports on incidents relating to drilling for water	10			

#### **Component 4: support**

# Expected accomplishment 4.1: Increased efficiency and effectiveness in supporting the mission

Planned indicators of achievement	Actual indicators of achievement		
Client offices have a high level of satisfaction with mission support	Satisfactory log components	gistical and administrative support to all	
Planned outputs	Completed (number or yes/no)	Remarks	
Implemented second phase of the Force's	24	Prefabricated accommodation units	
four-year engineering plan; installed 21 new prefabricated accommodation, ablution and	4	Ablution units	
kitchen units	2	Small kitchen units	
Implemented first phase of a planned programme of improved and upgraded communications network	No	Project delayed owing to late Government approval and commenced in May 2004 to be completed by 2010	
Replacement of obsolete equipment:	80	Higher number of radios transferred from the United Nations Logistics Base to comply with	
– 30 hand-held radios		minimum operating security standards	
– 30 mobile/base stations	No	Reprogrammed to the 2004/05 period to partially accommodate additional requirements (see para. 3 of the present report)	
– 3 repeaters	No	Cancelled to partially accommodate additional requirements (see para. 3 of the present report)	
- 3 microwave links	5	2 medium microwave links and 3 small radio links were procured at a lower cost	
– 3 communications towers	No	Reprogrammed to the 2004/05 period to partially accommodate additional requirements (see para. 3 of the present report)	
Rebuilt 10 km of patrol track in sector 4	10		
Maintained 40 km of patrol track	40		
Replacement of 12 generators and 3 vehicles	No	Reprogrammed to the 2004/05 period to partially accommodate additional requirements (see para. 3 of the present report)	
	3	Vehicles	
600 purchase orders issued	378	Lower number owing to consolidation of purchase orders for identical or similar items	
110 contracts awarded	102		
3,000 payments made	3 143		

Procurement plan implemented	Yes	
Inspections of contingent-owned equipment conducted	Yes	For the average troop strength of 1,224
Troop rotations and repatriations conducted	Yes	For the average troop strength of 1,224
116 staff trained	131	In 35 training courses in administration, personnel, procurement, communications and information technology, finance, general services, transportation, engineering and buildings management
Medical and health-care provided	3 743	Patients
Regular military exercises and skills competition conducted	2	For the average troop strength of 1,224
Audit recommendations implemented	15	Board of Auditors
	28	Office of Internal Oversight Services

# III. Resource performance

### A. Financial resources

(Thousands of United States dollars. Budget year is from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004.)

			Variance	
	Apportionment	Expenditure	Amount	Percentage
Category	(1)	(2)	(3)=(1)-(2)	(4) =(3)÷(1)
Military and police personnel				
Military observers	—	—	—	—
Military contingents	22 810.7	22 691.2	119.5	0.5
Civilian police	198.2	289.1	(90.9)	(45.9)
Formed police units	—	—	_	_
Subtotal	23 008.9	22 980.3	28.6	0.1
Civilian personnel				
International staff	5 481.5	6 312.2	(830.7)	(15.2)
National staff	4 163.4	5 098.2	(934.8)	(22.5)
United Nations Volunteers	—		—	_
Subtotal	9 644.9	11 410.4	(1 765.5)	(18.3)
Operational costs				
General temporary assistance	50.0	55.2	(5.2)	(10.4)
Government-provided personnel	_	_	_	
Civilian electoral observers	_	_	_	
Consultants	_	_	_	
Official travel	266.5	156.4	110.1	41.3
Facilities and infrastructure	5 004.2	5 173.9	(169.7)	(3.4)
Ground transportation	1 745.0	1 930.1	(185.1)	(10.6)
Air transportation	1 400.4	1 456.9	(56.5)	(4.0)
Naval transportation	—	_	_	_
Communications	889.5	768.4	121.1	13.6
Information technology	779.7	687.9	91.8	11.8
Medical	207.0	242.9	(35.9)	(17.3)
Special equipment	306.0	90.7	215.3	70.4
Other supplies, services and equipment	496.7	511.1	(14.4)	(2.9)
Quick-impact projects	—	—	—	_
Subtotal	11 145.0	11 073.5	71.5	0.6
Gross requirements	43 798.8	45 464.2	(1 665.4)	(3.8)
Staff assessment income	1 702.3	1 865.3	(163.0)	(9.6)
Net requirements	42 096.5	43 598.9	(1 502.4)	(3.6)
Voluntary contributions in kind (budgeted) <sup>a</sup>	1 318.3	1 707.1	(388.8)	(29.5)
Total requirements	45 117.1	47 171.3	(2 054.2)	(4.6)

<sup>a</sup> Expenditure includes \$1,611,900 from the Government of Cyprus, \$90,200 from the Government of Australia and \$5,000 from the Government of the United Kingdom.

#### **B.** Other income and adjustments

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Category	Amount
Interest income	201.0
Other/miscellaneous income	68.0
Voluntary contributions in cash	_
Prior period adjustments	(73.1)
Savings on or cancellation of prior-period obligations	1 158.0
Total	1 353.9

# C. Expenditure for contingent-owned equipment: major equipment and self-sustainment

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Category			Expenditure
Major equipment			1 181.0
Self-sustainment			_
Total			1 181.0
Mission factors	Percentage	Effective date	Last review date
A. Applicable to mission area	_	_	
B. Applicable to home country			
Incremental transportation factor	0.25-3.75		

### D. Value of non-budgeted contributions

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Category	Actual value
Status-of-forces agreement <sup>a</sup>	177.8
Voluntary contributions in kind (non-budgeted)	_
Total	177.8

<sup>a</sup> Inclusive of market value, as estimated by UNFICYP, of the cost of United Nations observation posts and office accommodation facilities provided by the Government of Cyprus to the Force for military contingents and civilian police units.

## **IV.** Analysis of variances<sup>1</sup>

	Variance	Variance		
Military contingents	\$119.5	0.5%		

8. The variance of \$119,500 under this heading is attributable primarily to savings under rotation and emplacement of military contingents as a result of favourable rotation costs of contingent troops under letter-of-assist arrangements and lower cost of emplacement travel by commercial aircraft arranged by the mission, as well as to savings arising from the lower actual troop strength (14,688 person-months) during the reporting period as compared to the budgeted strength (14,760 person-months).

	Variance		
Civilian police	(\$90.9)	(45.9%)	

9. The variance of \$90,900 under this heading is attributable to additional requirements for subsistence and clothing allowances as well as to emplacement travel of 12 additional civilian police officers following the increase of civilian police strength authorized by the Security Council in its resolution 1486 (2003).

	Variance	
International staff	(\$830.7)	(15.2%)

10. The variance of \$830,700 under this heading is attributable to four successive increases in the post adjustment multiplier factor for international staff ranging from 25.8 in July 2003 to 36.6 in March 2004, combined with the implementation of a revised salary scale for professional staff in effect from January 2003 as well as to the higher actual requirements for common staff costs (education grant, assignment grant, home leave travel and separation costs).

		Variance		
National staff	_	(\$934.8)	(22.5%)	

11. The variance of \$934,800 under this heading is attributable to the introduction, after the completion of the budget exercise, of a revised national salary scale in effect from 1 September 2003 and to the appreciation of the Cyprus pound during the reporting period, averaging 3 per cent (from  $\pounds$ CY 0.51 to the United States dollar in July 2003 to  $\pounds$ CY 0.478 in June 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Resource variance amounts are expressed in thousands of United States dollars.

	Variance	
General temporary assistance	(\$5.2)	(10.4%)

12. The variance of \$5,200 under this heading is attributable to higher actual requirements for the replacement of staff on maternity and sick leave and to the short-term engagement of two staff pending recruitment of an international secretary and an information technology assistant, as well as the engagement of temporary personnel to provide interpretation and translation services during absences of mission staff on leave.

	Variance		
Official travel	\$110.1	41.3%	

13. The variance of \$110,100 under this heading is attributable to lower expenditure for official travel owing primarily to the review of the United Nations Headquarters travel requirements and cancellation of the budgeted travel to the mission by the staff of the Department of Peacekeeping Operations, as well as to lower training-related travel requirements owing to the implementation of in-house training programmes, including engineering and information technology training courses conducted by local specialists.

	Variance		
Facilities and infrastructure	(\$169.7)	(3.4%)	

14. The variance of \$169,700 is attributable primarily to the appreciation of the Cyprus pound during the reporting period and the corresponding increase in the cost of utilities and maintenance services provided by local contractors, the increased consumption of electricity owing to the replacement for safety reasons of gas heaters by electric heaters and the installation of additional air conditioners at contingent camps, the increased cost of diesel fuel in the south of the island as well as to expenditure related to the renovation of the low voltage electrical system at sector 4 headquarters.

	Variance	
Ground transportation	(\$185.1)	(10.6%)

15. The variance of \$185,100 is attributable primarily to the appreciation of the Cyprus pound during the reporting period and the corresponding increase in the cost of rental, repairs and maintenance of vehicles, as well as to the increase in the local third-party liability insurance.

	Variance		
Air transportation	(\$56.5)	(4.0%)	

16. The variance of \$56,500 under this heading is attributable to a 24 per cent increase in the cost of aviation fuel in March 2003 combined with the appreciation

of the Cyprus pound during the reporting period, as well as to the increase of air travel and master aviation insurance premiums.

	Variance		
Communications	 \$121.1	13.6%	

17. The variance of \$121,100 under this heading is attributable primarily to the cancellation of the acquisition of a heavy-duty communications tower and other equipment in order to partially accommodate additional requirements referred to in paragraph 3 of the present report, the decreased number and lower acquisition cost of medium microwave links as well as to the implementation of in-house maintenance programmes as opposed to engaging outside contractors.

	Variance	
Information technology	\$91.8	11.8%

18. The variance of \$91,800 under this heading is attributable primarily to the cancellation of the acquisition of some software packages and licences in order to partially accommodate additional requirements referred to in paragraph 3 of the present report as well as to the lower actual cost of licences and delayed implementation of a licensing agreement with a major hardware and software manufacturer.

		Variance	
Medical	_	(\$35.9)	(17.3%)

19. The variance of \$35,900 under this heading is attributable primarily to increases in the cost of medical services provided by local doctors and clinics and locally purchased supplies owing to the appreciation of the Cyprus pound during the reporting period, as well as to the increased requirements for medical supplies, including replenishment of stocks for medical emergencies.

	Variance	
Special equipment	\$215.3	70.4%

20. The variance of \$215,300 is attributable to the revision by the Force's military specialists of requirements for the night observation devices and the resulting acquisition of 28 second-generation devices at a significantly lower cost compared to the budgeted cost of six third-generation devices.

	Variance	
Other supplies, services and equipment	(\$14.4)	(2.9%)

21. The variance of \$14,400 is attributable primarily to loss on exchange owing to the fluctuation during the reporting period of the value of convertible currencies compared to the United Nations operational rates of exchange.

## V. Actions to be taken by the General Assembly

22. The actions to be taken by the General Assembly in connection with the financing of UNFICYP are:

(a) To appropriate and assess an additional amount of \$1,665,400 for the maintenance of the Force with respect to the period from 1 July 2003 to 30 June 2004;

(b) To decide on the treatment of other income for the period ended 30 June 2004 amounting to \$1,353,900 from interest income (\$201,000), other/miscellaneous income (\$68,000) and savings on or cancellation of priorperiod obligations (\$1,158,000) offset by prior-period adjustments (\$73,100).